



IEC 61788-15

Edition 2.0 2026-03

# INTERNATIONAL STANDARD

REDLINE VERSION

---

**Superconductivity -  
Part 15: Electronic characteristic measurements - Intrinsic surface impedance of  
superconductor films at microwave frequencies**

## CONTENTS

|   |    |
|---|----|
| FOREWORD .....  | 5  |
| INTRODUCTION .....  | 1  |
| 1 Scope .....   | 8  |
| 2 Normative references .....  | 8  |
| 3 Terms and definitions <del>and general concepts</del> .....   | 8  |
| 4 Requirements .....  | 9  |
| 5 Apparatus .....   | 10 |
| 5.1 Measurement equipment .....   | 10 |
| 5.2 Measurement apparatus .....   | 10 |
| 5.3 Dielectric rods .....   | 12 |
| 5.4 Superconductor films and copper cavity .....  | 17 |
| 6 Measurement procedure .....   | 17 |
| 6.1 Set-up .....  | 17 |
| 6.2 Measurement of the reference level .....  | 17 |
| 6.3 Measurement of the $R_S$ of oxygen-free high <del>purity</del> conductivity copper .....  | 18 |
| 6.4 Determination of the <del>effective <math>R_S</math></del> $R_{Se}$ of superconductor films and $\tan \delta$ of<br>standard dielectric rods .....  | 21 |
| 6.5 Determination of the penetration depth .....  | 23 |
| 6.6 Determination of the intrinsic surface impedance .....  | 24 |
| 7 Uncertainty of the test method .....  | 26 |
| 7.1 Measurement of unloaded quality factor .....  | 26 |
| 7.2 Measurement of loss tangent .....   | 26 |
| 7.3 Temperature .....   | 27 |
| 7.4 Specimen and holder support structure .....   | 27 |
| 7.5 <del>Uncertainty in the intrinsic surface impedance</del> .....   | 27 |
| 8 Test Report .....   | 28 |
| 8.1 Identification of test specimen .....   | 28 |
| 8.2 Report of the <del>intrinsic</del> $Z_S$ values .....   | 28 |
| 8.3 Report of the test conditions .....   | 28 |
| Annex A (informative) <del>Additional</del> Detailed information relating to Clauses 1 to 8 .....   | 29 |
| A.1 <del>Concerning the Scope</del> General .....   | 29 |
| A.2 Requirements .....  | 31 |
| A.3 Theory and the measurement procedure for the intrinsic surface impedance .....  | 32 |
| A.3.1 Theoretical relation between the <del>intrinsic</del> $Z_S$ and the <del>effective <math>Z_S</math> [1]</del> <sup>4</sup><br>$Z_{Se}$ [14] ..... | 32 |
| A.3.2 Calculation of the geometrical factors [22] .....   | 37 |
| A.3.3 Procedures for determining the <del>intrinsic</del> $Z_S$ [14] [22] [23] .....  | 39 |
| A.4 Dimensions of the standard sapphire rod .....   | 40 |
| A.5 Dimensions of the closed type resonators .....  | 43 |
| A.6 Test results for type A and type B sapphire resonator .....   | 43 |
| A.6.1 Test results for type A resonator .....   | 43 |
| A.6.2 Test results for type B sapphire resonator .....  | 46 |

<sup>4</sup> ~~In this Annex A, numerals in square brackets refer to Clause A.8, Reference documents.~~

|  |  |               |
|--|--|---------------|
| A.7  | Uncertainty of the test results .....  | 50            |
| <del>A.8</del>   | <del>Reference documents of Annex A .....</del>  | <del>50</del> |
| <del>Annex B (informative) Uncertainty considerations .....</del>  |  |               |
| <del>B.1</del>   | <del>Overview .....</del>  | <del>50</del> |
| <del>B.2</del>   | <del>Definitions .....</del>   | <del>50</del> |
| <del>B.3</del>   | <del>Consideration of the uncertainty concept .....</del>  | <del>50</del> |
| <del>B.4</del>   | <del>Uncertainty evaluation example for TC 90 standards .....</del>                                      | <del>50</del> |
| <del>B.5</del>   | <del>Reference documents of Annex B .....</del>  | <del>50</del> |
| Annex B (informative) Additional information relating to determination of the penetration depth and the intrinsic surface impedance of superconductor films at microwave frequencies ..... |  |               |
|  |  | 59            |
| B.1  | General.....   | 59            |
| B.2  | Experimental requirements for utilizing Formula (A.43) .....   | 59            |
| B.2.1  | Requirements with regard to the temperature .....  | 59            |
| B.2.2  | Requirements with regard to the electromagnetic radiation effects.....                                   | 59            |
| B.2.3  | Requirements for suppressing mechanical vibrations of the cryocooler.....                                | 61            |
| B.3  | Procedures for determining the penetration depth and the intrinsic surface impedance of YBCO films ..... | 61            |
| Annex C (informative) Standard uncertainty evaluation in the test method for the intrinsic surface impedance of superconductor films at microwave frequencies .....                        |  |               |
|  |  | 63            |
| C.1  | General.....   | 63            |
| C.2  | Assessment of combined uncertainty in the $Z_S$ from uncertainties in the $R_{Se}$ and $\lambda$ .....   | 63            |
| C.3  | Assessment of combined uncertainty in the $Z_S$ from the measured complex conductivity.....              | 64            |
| C.4  | Results from the round robin test .....  | 65            |
| C.4.1  | Uncertainties in the $R_{Se}$ and $f_0$ .....  | 65            |
| C.4.2  | Uncertainty in the $\lambda$ .....   | 68            |
| C.4.3  | Uncertainties in the $Z_S$ of the YBCO films from the round robin test.....                              | 69            |
| C.4.4  | Effects of uncertainty in temperature on $u_r(R_{Se})$ from the round robin test.....                    | 70            |
| Bibliography.....  |  | 72            |

|            |  |    |
|------------|--|----|
| Figure 1   | – Schematic diagram for the measurement equipment for the intrinsic $Z_S$ of HTS films at cryogenic temperatures ..... | 11 |
| Figure 2   | – Schematic diagram of a dielectric resonator with a switch for thermal connection.....                                | 13 |
| Figure 3   | – Typical dielectric resonator with a movable top plate.....   | 14 |
| Figure 4   | – Switch block for thermal connection .....  | 15 |
| Figure 5   | – Dielectric resonator assembled with a switch block for thermal connection.....                                       | 16 |
| Figure 6   | – A typical resonance peak .....   | 19 |
| Figure 7   | – Reflection scattering parameters $S_{11}$ and $S_{22}$ .....   | 20 |
| Figure 8   | – Definitions for terms in Table 5 .....   | 27 |
| Figure A.1 | – Schematic diagram for the measurement system .....   | 30 |
| Figure A.2 | – A motion stage using step motors .....   | 31 |
| Figure A.3 | – Cross-sectional view of a dielectric resonator .....   | 32 |
| Figure A.4 | – A diagram for simplified cross-sectional view of a dielectric resonator .....  | 37 |

|   |                  |
|---|------------------|
| Figure A.5 – Mode chart for type A sapphire resonator with a cavity diameter of 12 mm .....   | 42               |
| Figure A.6 – Frequency response of the type A sapphire resonator .....  | 43               |
| Figure A.7 – $Q_U$ versus temperature for the TE <sub>021</sub> and the TE <sub>012</sub> modes of the type A sapphire resonator with 360 nm-thick YBCO films .....   | 44               |
| Figure A.8 – The resonant frequency $f_0$ versus temperature for the TE <sub>021</sub> and TE <sub>012</sub> modes of the type A sapphire resonator with 360 nm-thick YBCO films .....                                | 44               |
| Figure A.9 – The temperature dependence of the $R_{S_e}$ of YBCO films with the thicknesses of 70 nm to 360 nm measured at ~ 40 GHz .....   | 45               |
| Figure A.10 – The temperature dependence of $\Delta\lambda_e$ for the YBCO films with the thicknesses of 70 nm and 360 nm measured at ~ 40 GHz .....  | 45               |
| Figure A.11 – The temperature dependence of the penetration depth $\lambda$ of the 360 nm-thick YBCO film measured at 10 kHz using the mutual inductance method and at ~ 40 GHz using type A sapphire resonator ..... | 46               |
| Figure A.12 – The temperature dependence of the intrinsic surface resistance $R_S$ of YBCO films with the thicknesses of 70 nm to 360 nm measured at ~ 40 GHz .....   | 46               |
| Figure A.13 – Mode chart used for type B sapphire resonator with a cavity diameter of 15,78 mm .....  | 47               |
| Figure A.14 – Frequency response of type B sapphire resonator .....   | 48               |
| Figure A.15 – The temperature dependence of the $R_{S_e}$ for the 300 nm-thick YBCO films measured at ~ 38 GHz .....  | 48               |
| Figure A.16 – The temperature dependence of $\Delta\lambda_e$ for the 300 nm-thick YBCO film measured at ~ 38 GHz .....   | 49               |
| Figure A.17 – The temperature dependence of $\sigma_2$ for the 300 nm-thick YBCO films measured at ~ 38 GHz .....   | 49               |
| Figure A.18 – The temperature dependence of the $R_S$ for the 300 nm-thick YBCO films measured at ~ 38 GHz .....  | 50               |
| <del>Figure A.13 – Comparison of the temperature dependent value of each term in Equation (A.35) for the TE<sub>021</sub> mode of the standard sapphire resonator .....</del>   | <del>.....</del> |
| <del>Figure A.14 – Comparison of the temperature dependent value of each term in Equation (A.35) for the TE<sub>012</sub> mode of the standard sapphire resonator .....</del>   | <del>.....</del> |
| <del>Figure A.15 – Temperature dependence of uncertainty in the measured intrinsic <math>R_S</math> of YBCO films .....</del>   | <del>.....</del> |
| Figure B.1 – A comparison between variations in the temperature of the top plate and the rest of the sapphire resonator over time .....   | 60               |
| Figure B.2 – The temperature dependence of the ratio of $\Delta f_0$ to $f_0$ for type A sapphire resonator having YBCO endplates for the gap distances of 0 $\mu\text{m}$ (filled) and 10 $\mu\text{m}$ (open) ..... | 60               |
| Figure B.3 – The temperature dependence of TE <sub>021</sub> -mode $Q_U$ of type A sapphire resonator for the gap distances of 0 $\mu\text{m}$ (filled) and 10 $\mu\text{m}$ (open) .....                             | 61               |
| Figure C.1 – The temperature dependence of the measured TE <sub>021</sub> -mode $Q_U$ vs. temperature data from the round robin test .....  | 66               |
| Figure C.2 – The temperature dependence of the measured resonant frequencies of the TE <sub>021</sub> mode for the sapphire resonator under the round robin test .....  | 66               |
| Figure C.3 – The temperature dependence of the relative uncertainty in the TE <sub>021</sub> mode $Q_U$ and the TE <sub>012</sub> mode $Q_U$ from the round robin test .....  | 67               |

|  |               |
|--|---------------|
| Figure C.4 – The temperature dependence of the relative uncertainty in the TE <sub>021</sub> mode $f_0$ vs. temperature data from the round robin test .....   | 67            |
| Figure C.5 – Comparison of the temperature dependence of the measured $R_{S_e}$ at ~ 38 GHz for the YBCO films under the round robin test .....  | 68            |
| Figure C.6 – The temperature dependence of the relative uncertainties in the $R_{S_e}$ (open circle) and $R_S$ (filled circle) at ~ 38 GHz for the YBCO films under the round robin test .....   | 69            |
| Figure C.7 – The temperature dependence of the relative uncertainties in the TE <sub>021</sub> -mode $Q_U$ from the RRT (open circle) and that due to the presumed uncertainty of 0,5 K in the temperature (cross) at ~ 38 GHz for type B sapphire resonator ..... | 71            |
| <br>   |               |
| Table 1 – Typical dimensions of a sapphire rod .....   | 17            |
| Table 2 – Typical dimensions of OFHC cavities and HTS films .....  | 17            |
| Table 3 – Geometrical factors and filling factors calculated for the standard sapphire resonators .....  | 21            |
| Table 4 – Specifications of Vector Network Analyser .....  | 26            |
| Table 5 – Type B uncertainty for the specifications on the sapphire rod .....  | 27            |
| <del>Table A.1 – Geometrical factors and filling factors calculated for the standard sapphire resonator .....</del>  | <del>21</del> |
| <del>Table B.1 – Output signals from two nominally identical extensometers .....</del>   | <del>27</del> |
| <del>Table B.2 – Mean values of two output signals .....</del>   | <del>27</del> |
| <del>Table B.3 – Experimental standard deviations of two output signals .....</del>  | <del>27</del> |
| <del>Table B.4 – Standard uncertainties of two output signals .....</del>  | <del>27</del> |
| <del>Table B.5 – Coefficient of variations of two output signals .....</del>   | <del>27</del> |
| Table C.1 – Values of $\epsilon_{r4}$ , $l$ , $t$ , $\beta_4$ , $\beta_{z4}$ , $\beta_h$ , $\lambda$ and $\coth(t/\lambda)$ at 30 K .....  | 64            |
| Table C.2 – The average values for the $R_{S_e}$ and the $R_S$ of the YBCO films from the round robin test and the relative uncertainties in the $R_{S_e}$ and the $R_S$ .....   | 70            |

INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

---

**Superconductivity -  
Part 15: Electronic characteristic measurements - Intrinsic surface  
impedance of superconductor films at microwave frequencies**

**FOREWORD**

- 1) The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is a worldwide organization for standardization comprising all national electrotechnical committees (IEC National Committees). The object of IEC is to promote international co-operation on all questions concerning standardization in the electrical and electronic fields. To this end and in addition to other activities, IEC publishes International Standards, Technical Specifications, Technical Reports, Publicly Available Specifications (PAS) and Guides (hereafter referred to as "IEC Publication(s)"). Their preparation is entrusted to technical committees; any IEC National Committee interested in the subject dealt with may participate in this preparatory work. International, governmental and non-governmental organizations liaising with the IEC also participate in this preparation. IEC collaborates closely with the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) in accordance with conditions determined by agreement between the two organizations.
- 2) The formal decisions or agreements of IEC on technical matters express, as nearly as possible, an international consensus of opinion on the relevant subjects since each technical committee has representation from all interested IEC National Committees.
- 3) IEC Publications have the form of recommendations for international use and are accepted by IEC National Committees in that sense. While all reasonable efforts are made to ensure that the technical content of IEC Publications is accurate, IEC cannot be held responsible for the way in which they are used or for any misinterpretation by any end user.
- 4) In order to promote international uniformity, IEC National Committees undertake to apply IEC Publications transparently to the maximum extent possible in their national and regional publications. Any divergence between any IEC Publication and the corresponding national or regional publication shall be clearly indicated in the latter.
- 5) IEC itself does not provide any attestation of conformity. Independent certification bodies provide conformity assessment services and, in some areas, access to IEC marks of conformity. IEC is not responsible for any services carried out by independent certification bodies.
- 6) All users should ensure that they have the latest edition of this publication.
- 7) No liability shall attach to IEC or its directors, employees, servants or agents including individual experts and members of its technical committees and IEC National Committees for any personal injury, property damage or other damage of any nature whatsoever, whether direct or indirect, or for costs (including legal fees) and expenses arising out of the publication, use of, or reliance upon, this IEC Publication or any other IEC Publications.
- 8) Attention is drawn to the Normative references cited in this publication. Use of the referenced publications is indispensable for the correct application of this publication.
- 9) IEC draws attention to the possibility that the implementation of this document may involve the use of (a) patent(s). IEC takes no position concerning the evidence, validity or applicability of any claimed patent rights in respect thereof. As of the date of publication of this document, IEC had not received notice of (a) patent(s), which may be required to implement this document. However, implementers are cautioned that this may not represent the latest information, which may be obtained from the patent database available at <https://patents.iec.ch>. IEC shall not be held responsible for identifying any or all such patent rights.

This redline version of the official IEC Standard allows the user to identify the changes made to the previous edition IEC 61788-15:2011. A vertical bar appears in the margin wherever a change has been made. Additions are in green text, deletions are in strikethrough red text.

IEC 61788-15 has been prepared by IEC technical committee 90: Superconductivity. It is an International Standard.

This second edition cancels and replaces the first edition published in 2011. This edition constitutes a technical revision.

This edition includes the following significant technical changes with respect to the previous edition:

- a) informative Annex B, combined relative standard uncertainty in the intrinsic surface impedance is added;
- b) the terms, 'precision and accuracy', are replaced with uncertainty;
- c) results from a round robin test are added.

The text of this International Standard is based on the following documents:

| Draft       | Report on voting |
|-------------|------------------|
| 90/550/FDIS | 90/556/RVD       |

Full information on the voting for its approval can be found in the report on voting indicated in the above table.

The language used for the development of this International Standard is English.

This document was drafted in accordance with ISO/IEC Directives, Part 2, and developed in accordance with ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 and ISO/IEC Directives, IEC Supplement, available at [www.iec.ch/members\\_experts/refdocs](http://www.iec.ch/members_experts/refdocs). The main document types developed by IEC are described in greater detail at [www.iec.ch/publications](http://www.iec.ch/publications).

A list of all parts in the IEC 61788 series, published under the general title *Superconductivity*, can be found on the IEC website.

The committee has decided that the contents of this document will remain unchanged until the stability date indicated on the IEC website under [webstore.iec.ch](http://webstore.iec.ch) in the data related to the specific document. At this date, the document will be

- reconfirmed,
- withdrawn, or
- revised.

## INTRODUCTION

Since the discovery of high  $T_C$  superconductors (HTS), extensive researches have been performed worldwide on electronic applications and large-scale applications with HTS filter subsystems based on  $\text{YBa}_2\text{Cu}_3\text{O}_{7-\delta}$  (YBCO) having already been commercialized [1]<sup>2</sup>.

Merits of using HTS films for microwave devices such as resonators, filters, antennas, delay lines, etc., include i) microwave losses from HTS films could be extremely low and ii) no signal dispersion on transmission lines made of HTS films due to extremely low ~~microwave~~ intrinsic surface resistance ( $R_S$ ) [2] and frequency-independent penetration depth ( $\lambda$ ) of HTS films, respectively.

In this regard, when it comes to designing of HTS-based microwave devices, it is important to measure the intrinsic surface impedance ( $Z_S$ ) of HTS films with  $Z_S = R_S + jX_S$  and  $X_S = \omega\mu_0\lambda$  (here  $\omega$  and  $\mu_0$  denote the angular frequency and the permeability of vacuum, respectively,  $X_S$ , the intrinsic surface reactance, and  $X_S = \omega\mu_0\lambda$  is valid at temperatures not too close to the critical temperature  $T_C$  of HTS films).

Various reports have been made on measuring the  $R_S$  of HTS films at microwave frequencies with the typical  $R_S$  of HTS films as low as 1/100 to 1/50 of that of oxygen-free high-purity conductivity copper (OFHC) at 77 K and 10 GHz. The  $R_S$  of conventional superconductors such as niobium (Nb) could be easily measured by using Nb cavities by converting the resonator quality factor ( $Q$ ) to the  $R_S$  of Nb. However, such conventional measurement method could no longer be applied to HTS films grown on dielectric substrates, with which it is basically impossible to make all-HTS cavities. Instead, for measuring the  $R_S$  of HTS films, several other methods have been useful, which include microstrip resonator method [3], coplanar microstrip resonator method [4], parallel plate resonator method [5] and dielectric resonator method ([6] to [11]). Among the stated methods, the dielectric resonator method has been very useful due to the fact that the method enables to measure the  ~~$R_S$~~  microwave surface resistance in a non-invasive way and with accuracy. In 2002, the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) published the dielectric resonator method as a measurement standard [12].

The test method given in this document enables to measure not only the ~~intrinsic surface resistance~~  $R_S$  but also the ~~intrinsic surface reactance~~  $X_S$  of HTS films regardless of the film's thickness by using single sapphire resonator, which differs from the existing IEC standard (IEC 61788-7:2006) that is limited to measure the surface resistance of superconductor films having the thicknesses of more than  $3\lambda$  at the measured temperature by using two sapphire resonators. In fact, the measured surface resistances of HTS films with different thicknesses of less than  $3\lambda$  mean effective values instead of intrinsic values, which cannot be used for directly comparing the microwave properties of HTS films among one another [13], [14]. Use of a single sapphire resonator as suggested in this document also enables to reduce uncertainty in the measured surface resistance that ~~might~~ can result from using two sapphire resonators with sapphire rods of ~~even slightly~~ different quality.

The test method given in this document can also be applied to HTS coated conductors, HTS bulks and other superconductors having established models for the penetration depth.

This document is intended to provide an appropriate and agreeable technical base for the time being to engineers working in the fields of electronics and superconductivity technology.

The test method covered in this document has been discussed at the VAMAS (Versailles Project on Advanced Materials and Standards) TWA-16 meeting.

<sup>2</sup> Numbers in square brackets refer to the Bibliography.

## 1 Scope

This part of IEC 61788 describes measurements of the intrinsic surface impedance ( $Z_S$ ) of HTS films at microwave frequencies by a modified two-resonance mode dielectric resonator method [14], [15]. The object of measurement is to obtain the temperature dependence of the intrinsic surface impedance,  $Z_S$ , at the resonant frequency  $f_0$ .

The frequency and thickness range and the measurement resolution for the ~~intrinsic~~  $Z_S$  of HTS films are as follows:

- frequency: up to 40 GHz;
- film thickness: greater than 50 nm;
- measurement resolution: 0,01 mΩ at 10 GHz.

It is crucial that the ~~intrinsic~~  $Z_S$  data at the measured frequency, and that scaled to 10 GHz be reported for comparison, assuming the  $f^2$  rule for the intrinsic surface resistance,  $R_S$  ( $f < 40$  GHz), and the  $f$  rule for the intrinsic surface reactance,  $X_S$  ~~for comparison, shall be reported.~~

## 2 Normative references

The following documents are referred to in the text in such a way that some or all of their content constitutes requirements of this document. For dated references, only the edition cited applies. For undated references, the latest edition of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

IEC 60050-815:2000/2024, *International Electrotechnical Vocabulary - Part 815: Superconductivity*

~~IEC 61788-7:2006, *Superconductivity — Part 7: Electronic characteristic measurements — Surface resistance of superconductors at microwave frequencies*~~

## Bibliography

- [1] WILLEMSSEN, BA. HTS filter subsystems for wireless telecommunications. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 2001, 11, No. 1, p. 60
- [2] PIEL, H., and MÜLLER, G. The microwave surface impedance of high  $T_C$  superconductors. *IEEE Trans. Magnet.* 1991, 27, p. 854
- [3] OATES, DE., ANDERSON, AC., SHEEN, DM., ALI, SM., *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.* 39, 1522 (1991)
- [4] PORCH, A., LANCASTER, MJ., and HUMPHREYS, R. Coplanar resonator technique for the determination of the surface impedance of patterned thin films. *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.* 1995, 43, No. 2, p. 306
- [5] TABER, RC. *A parallel plate resonator technique for microwave loss measurements on superconductors.* *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* 1990, 61, p. 2200
- [6] SHEN, Z.-Y., WILKER, C., PANG, P., HOLSTEIN, WL., FACE, DW. and KOUNTZ, DJ. High  $T_C$  superconductor-sapphire microwave resonator with extremely high  $Q$ -values up to 90 K. *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.* 1992, 40, p.2424
- [7] KRUPKA, J., KLINGER, M., KUHN, M., BARANYAK, A., STILLER, M., HINKEN, J. and MODELSKI, J. Surface resistance measurements of HTS films by means of sapphire dielectric resonators. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 1993, 3, p. 3043
- [8] TELLMAN, N., KLEIN, N., DÄHNE, U., SCHOLEN, A., SCHULZ, H. and CHALOUPKA, H. High-Q  $\text{LaAlO}_3$  dielectric resonators shielded by YBCO-films. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 1994, 4, p. 143
- [9] KOBAYASHI, Y. and YOSHIKAWA, H. Microwave measurements of surface impedance of high- $T_C$  superconductors using two modes in a dielectric rod resonator. *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.* 1998, 46, p.2524
- [10] MAZIERSKA, J. Dielectric resonator as a possible standard for characterization of high temperature superconducting films for microwave applications. *J. Supercond.* 1997, 10, p. 73
- ~~[11] See IEC 61788-7:2006 as listed in the Normative references.~~
- [11] POMPEO, N., TOROKHTII, K. and SILVA, E. Dielectric resonators for measurements of the surface impedance of superconducting films. *Meas. Sci. Rev.* 2014, 14, p.164
- [12] IEC 61788-7, *Superconductivity - Part 7: Electronic characteristic measurements - Surface resistance of superconductors at microwave frequencies*
- [13] KLEIN, N., CHALOUPKA, H., MÜLLER, G., ORBACH, S., PIEL, H., ROAS, B., SCHULZ, H., KLEIN, U., PEINIGER, M. The effective microwave surface impedance of high  $T_C$  thin films. *J. Appl. Phys.* 1990, 67, p. 6940
- [14] LEE, JH., YANG, WI., KIM, MJ., BOOTH, JC., LEONG, K., SCHIMA, S., RUDMAN, D., LEE, SY. Accurate measurements of the intrinsic surface impedance of thin  $\text{YBa}_2\text{Cu}_3\text{O}_{7-\delta}$  Films using a modified two-tone resonator method. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 2005, 15, p. 3700

- [15] HASHIMOTO, T. and KOBAYASHI, Y. Frequency dependence measurements of surface resistance of superconductors using four modes in a sapphire rod resonator. *IEICE Trans. ELECTRONICS*, 2003, Vol. E86-c, 8, p1721
- [16] PETERSON, J. and ANLAGE, SM. Measurement of resonant frequency and quality factor of microwave resonators: comparison of methods. *J. Appl. Phys.* 1998, 84, p. 3392
- [17] LEONG, K. and MAZIERSKA, J. Precise measurements of the Q factor of dielectric resonators in the transmission mode-Accounting for noise, crosstalk, delay of uncalibrated lines, and coupling reactance. *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.* 2002, 50, p. 2115
- [18] HAN, HK., LEE, JH., YANG, WI., LEE, SG., LEE, SY. Frequency dependence of the effective surface resistance of thin  $\text{YBa}_2\text{Cu}_3\text{O}_{7-\delta}$  superconductor films. *J. Korean Phys. Soc.* 2006, 48, p.113
- [19] See e.g., HEIN, M., High-temperature superconductor thin films at microwave frequencies, *STMP 155* (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999), Chap. 2
- [20] BONN, DA. AND HARDY, WN. Microwave electrodynamics of high temperature superconductors, *Handbook of High-Temperature Superconductivity* (Springer, Berlin, 2007), p.145
- [21] ZAKI, KA. and ATIA, AE. Modes in dielectric-loaded waveguides and resonators. *IEEE Trans Microwave Theory Tech.*, 1983, 31, p. 1039
- [22] See e.g., HEIN, M., High-temperature superconductor thin films at microwave frequencies, *STMP 155* (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999), Chap. 2. Validity of using  $\lambda = \lambda_0 [1 - (T/T_C)^\tau]^{-1/2}$  with  $\tau = 2$  for HTS films is described on p. 90 of this book along with the related references. The least-squares-fitted  $\lambda_0$  as obtained by using  $\tau = 4$  appeared to be more than 50 % greater than that for  $\tau = 2$
- [23] See e.g., LANCASTER, MJ. Passive microwave device applications of high-temperature superconductors (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997), Chap. 1, for relations between the  $R_S$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $\sigma$
- [24] LEE, SY., LEE, JH., YANG, WI. and CLAASSEN, JH., Microwave properties of sapphire resonators with a gap and their applicability for measurements of the intrinsic surface impedance of thin superconductor films. *IEICE Trans. Electron.*, 2006, E89-C, No.2., p.132
- [25] KOBAYASHI, Y. and SENJU, T. Resonance modes in shielded uniaxial-anisotropic dielectric rod resonators. *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, 1993, 41, p. 2198
- [26] MAZIERSKA, J. and WILKER, C., Accuracy issues in surface resistance measurements of high temperature superconductors using dielectric resonators. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 2001, 11, p. 4140
- [27] LEONG, KT., BOOTH, JC. and LEE, SY., Influence of impedance mismatch effects on measurements of unloaded Q factors of transmission mode dielectric resonators. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 2003, 13, p. 2905
- [28] HARRIS, R., TURNER, PJ., KAMAL, S., HOSSEINI, AR., DOSANJH, P., MULLINS, GK., BOBOWSKI, JS., BIDINOSTI, CP., BROUN, DM., LIANG, R., HARDY, WN. and BONN, DA., Phenomenology of a-axis and b-axis charge dynamics from microwave

spectroscopy of highly ordered  $\text{YBa}_2\text{Cu}_3\text{O}_{6.50}$  and  $\text{YBa}_2\text{Cu}_3\text{O}_{6.993}$ . *Phys. Rev. B*, 2006, 74, p. 104508

---